FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/2/2018 2:45 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95459-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COA NO. III-344495

JOHN and LORI EDWARDS, a marital community,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

COLVILLE MOTOR SPORTS, INC., Washington Corporation,

Defendant/Petitioner.

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

EVANS, CRAVEN & LACKIE, P.S. MARKUS W. LOUVIER, WSBA 39319 CHRISTOPHER J. KERLEY, WSBA 16489 818 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 250 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 455-5200 telephone (509) 455-3632 facsimile Attorneys for Defendant/Petitioner Colville Motor Sports, Inc.

V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	А.	A. Introduction			
	B.	B. Pertinent Facts			
	C.	C. Relevant Trial Court Procedure			
VI.	ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 10				
	A.	Trial Court Properly Instructed The Jury On Implied Primary Assumption Of Risk10			
		1.	Standard of Review 10		
		2.	The court's instruction on implied primary assumption of risk was a correct statement of the law, and it was supported by substantial evidence		
	B.		e Trial Court Did Not Err By Refusing To Instruct e Jury On General Negligence16		
		1.	Standard of Review16		
		2.	The trial court's refusal to give a general negligence instruction was appropriate because a landowner does not owe an unbounded, general duty of reasonable care to persons on the premises		
		3.	It was appropriate for the trial court to refuse to give an instruction on general negligence because the negligence of CMS was covered by the Court's premises liability instructions		

	4.	Notwithstanding The Above, even if Failing To Instruct The Jury On A General Negligence Theory Was Error, it			
		was Harmless	19		
VII.	CONCL	USION	20		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
Cases
Alston v. Blythe, 88 Wn. App. 26, 943 P.2d 692 (1997)12
Barrett v. Lucky 7 Saloon, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 259, 96 P.3d 386 (2004)17
Burbo v. Harley C. Douglas, Inc., 125 Wn. App. 684, 106 P.3d 258 (2005)12
Dorr v. Big Creek Wood Products Inc., 84 Wn. App. 420, 927 P.2d 1148 (1996)14, 18
Douglas v. Freeman, 117 Wn.2d 242, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991)10
<i>Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor</i> , 170 Wn.2d 628, 244 P.3d 924 (2010)10, 11
Home v. N. Kitsap Sch. Dist., 92 Wn. App. 709, 965 P.2d 1112 (1998)11
Hvolboll v. Wolff Co., 187 Wn. App. 37, 347 P.3d 476 (2015)11
Jessee v. City Council of Dayton, 173 Wn. App. 410, 293 P.3d 1290 (2013)14
<i>Kirk v. Wash. State Univ.</i> , 109 Wn.2d 448, 746 P.2d 285 (1987)11
<i>Kjellman v. Richards</i> , 82 Wn.2d 766, 514 P.2d 135 (1973)17
<i>In re: Marriage of Littlefield</i> , 133 Wn.2d 39, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997)10
<i>McKown v. Simon Property Group, Inc.</i> , 182 Wn.2d 752, 344 P.3d 661 (2015)17, 18

Scott by and through Scott v. Pacific West Mountain Resort, 119 Wn.2d 484, 834 P.2d 6 (1992)20				
Simpson v. May, 5 Wn. App. 214, 486 P.2d 336 (1971)12, 14				
State v. Allen, 182 Wn.2d 364, 341 P.3d 268 (2015)13				
State v. Douglas, 128 Wn. App. 555, 116 P.3d 1012 (2005)10, 11				
<i>State v. Johnson</i> , 180 Wn.2d 295, 325 P.3d 135 (2014)16				
<i>State v. Marquez</i> , 131 Wn. App. 566, 127 P.3d 78610				
State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 767, 966 P.2d 883 (1998)17				
Other Authorities				
RAP 13.4(b)2				

I. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

The Petitioner is Colville Motor Sports, Inc., (CMS) the defendant in the personal injury case from which this Petition arises.

II. <u>CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

The Decision CMS seeks to have reviewed was issued by Division III of the Court of Appeals on December 19, 2017 (a copy of the Opinion is provided in the Appendix).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Where there is substantial evidence that the plaintiff in a personal injury case had a full, subjective understanding of the specific risk resulting in his injury, is it appropriate to instruct the jury on implied primary assumption of risk and is the jury entitled to find that the plaintiff had a full subjective understanding of the specific risk that caused the injury?

B. In a premises liability case, where the trial court instructs the jury on the duty of care owed to the plaintiff by the premises owner, may the trial court appropriately refuse to give an instruction on general negligence?

C. Even if the trial court erred by refusing to give a general negligence instruction (in addition to a premises liability instruction), was that error harmless as a matter of law where the jury found negligence on the part of the defendant?

IV. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

Applying the considerations set forth in RAP 13.4(b), review should be accepted for the following reasons:

(1) The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with cases from the Washington Supreme Court regarding when a party is entitled to have the jury instructed on its theory of the case and the sanctity of a jury verdict when the verdict is supported by substantial evidence.

(2) In addition, the Court of Appeals decision involves issues of substantial public interest because it illustrates the confusion that exists among lawyers and judges on the nature of implied primary assumption of risk in general, and on the distinction between dismissal of a plaintiff's claim on summary judgment based on implied primary assumption of risk, and allowing the jury to decide the issue when there is substantial evidence that the plaintiff had a full subjective understanding of the risk that caused his injury.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Introduction

After it had undergone routine service, John Edwards went to Colville Motor Sports (CMS) to pick up his Polaris ATV. As he was driving it up ramps into the back of his pickup truck, it flipped over backwards, causing him serious injury. He and his wife, Lori,¹ (the Edwards) sued CMS, claiming the accident was the result of CMS's negligence. After a four-day trial, the jury found CMS was negligent, but that the Edwards' claim was barred by implied primary assumption of risk.

B. <u>Pertinent Facts</u>

John bought the Polaris ATV from CMS in December 2010 as a gift for Lori. RP 448-450. At the time of purchase, John received an owner's manual, contract paperwork, and a Polaris-produced video, which was essentially the operator's manual in video format. He and Lori read the manual and watched the video together. RP 453-454. The contract documents and/or the manual addressed the risks associated with riding the ATV up a steep hill and the techniques to be used when riding up a hill to avoid "flipover" and "overturn." RP 499. RP 501, 503-05.

In mid-May 2011, John took the ATV to CMS for its first scheduled service. RP 454. At home, without assistance, he attached loading ramps he purchased shortly after buying the ATV to the tailgate of his 1995 full-size Dodge pickup truck and rode the ATV up the ramps and into the truck bed,

¹ To avoid confusion, John and Lori are referenced by their first names, with no disrespect intended.

without incident. RP 454-55. John then drove to Colville and dropped the ATV off at CMS. RP 456.

Ten days to two weeks later, John received a call from CMS notifying him the ATV was ready. RP 458-59. On May 31, 2011, after a fishing trip to a lake northeast of Colville, John and Lori decided to drop by CMS to pick up the ATV on their way home. RP 459.

When John and Lori arrived at CMS, they drove their pickup into the parking lot and parked in a marked stall next to the building's front door, with the truck facing the building. RP 179. In that area the CMS parking lot slopes away from the building at 5.5 degrees.² RP 265. John went inside and indicated he wanted to pay and take his ATV home. RP 460. After paying, John went back out to his truck, removed his loading ramps from the truck bed and began positioning them. RP 462. Meanwhile, William Harris (Harris), a CMS shop assistant, drove the ATV out from the back of the building and parked it behind the truck. RP 346-47. Harris then helped John finish attaching the ramps to the truck tailgate. RP 463.

The great majority—approximately 80 percent—of CMS customers load and unload their own vehicles when dropping them off or picking them

² Multiple witnesses testified that, although an observer would not be able to assess the slope of the parking lot in degrees simply by observing it, the slope itself was obvious. RP 315, 514-18.

up for service. While experienced employees of CMS would load or unload an ATV for a customer if asked, it was generally up to the customer whether to load or unload his own ATV. RP 546, 548-49; RP 554-55.

The area just outside CMS' front door was used to load ATVs "all the time." RP 354. Steve Fogle (Fogle), the owner of CMS, indicated that since buying the business in 2006 he was unaware of anyone (other than John) having an ATV flip over them in the CMS parking lot. Likewise, Fogle's predecessor, Paul Gourlie, who had owned the business for 21 years, testified that during his ownership he never had anyone roll an ATV in the parking lot. RP 559-560; RP 562-63.

As of May 31, 2011, John had read the purchase documents and owner's manual and thus understood that ascending or descending a hill on an ATV was dangerous and should only be attempted by experienced riders. RP 500. He also understood that ascending or descending a hill unsuccessfully could result in a flipover. *Id.* He understood that stalling or rolling backwards or improperly dismounting while climbing a hill could cause an overturn, and that it was necessary to maintain a steady speed when climbing a hill. RP 503. He also understood that if forward speed was lost when riding up a hill, it was important to keep his body weight uphill, apply the brakes, and lock the parking brake when fully stopped. RP 504. He also

understood that when riding uphill, it was necessary to proceed at a steady rate of speed and throttle opening, and that opening the throttle suddenly could cause the ATV to flip backwards. RP 505. He also understood the importance of maintaining momentum when riding the ATV up loading ramps. RP 537-38. He also realized that the parking lot in the area where he parked his truck was sloped, and agreed that feature of the lot was "obvious to him." RP 517-18.

At the back of the truck, Lori asked Harris if the truck should be turned around, and Harris stated he had seen customers load ATVs both ways [with the truck pointing toward the building and away from the building], that he did not think it made much difference and that ATVs were loaded with the truck positioned like the Edwards' "all the time." RP 185. RP 361-62. Lori then asked Harris if he would load the ATV and Harris replied he was not comfortable doing so because of his lack of experience. Lori responded that John probably had less.³ RP 363. Hearing this, John stated he could do it because he had done it several times before. RP 364-65. According to Harris, John was "adamant about being able to load his own machine." RP 364-65.

³ Lori and John also testified that, after the ramps were in place, Lori remarked to John in Harris' presence that the situation looked dangerous or unsafe. RP 183, 185, 463, 518. <u>Harris denied such a remark was made in his presence</u>. RP 380. At her deposition, Lori testified she had no discussion or conversation with Harris, and this discrepancy in her testimony was brought to the attention of the jury at trial. RP 221-22. Consistent with Lori's trial testimony, John testified that he agreed with Lori that

During his conversation with John and Lori about loading the ATV, Harris recalls John saying he was fine loading the ATV, would take care of it himself, and did not need any help. RP 376. John said that at the beginning of the discussion, and then again after Lori asked about getting help. *Id*.

Harris sometimes participated in loading ATVs onto trucks. RP 374-75. He would only do so if he was comfortable, however, and if he was not, he would find a CMS employee who was more experienced. RP 375. If John had said he was uncomfortable loading his ATV, Harris would have gone inside and got an experienced employee to come out and do it. RP 376. But Harris had no reason to disbelieve John's claim that he could do it, and he was not going to "question somebody's manhood in front of them" and tell him he did not think he could load his own machine. RP 376-77. "It's their machine and they are entitled to do with it what they want." *Id.* Harris never offered to get someone else to do it because John was confident in his ability to load his own machine. RP 378.

John acknowledged he could have asked Harris or some other CMS employee to load the ATV for him but did not. RP 524. He also acknowledged he did not make anyone aware of his lack of experience when at CMS that day. RP 523.

the situation looked unsafe because of the steepness of the ramps. RP 518.

As John rode the ATV up the ramps, he lost momentum toward the top of the ramps and hit the accelerator. RP 307-308. This critical error caused the front end of the ATV to come up, moving the center of gravity behind the rear wheels. RP 308-09. When that happened, the ATV flipped on top of John. RP 308-09.

When the ATV flipped, one of the handlebars penetrated John's cheek, causing serious injuries. RP 289. A full face helmet covers the cheek. RP 290. At the time of the accident, John owned a full face helmet, but did not have it with him. RP 229-30, 513-14.

At trial, the Edwards contended CMS's premises were unsafe for loading ATVs because the parking lot was sloped. According to Edwards' expert, William Skelton, the degree of incline of the ramps with the pickup facing the building (the manner in which it was parked at the time of the accident), was 35 degrees. RP 271. Skelton further testified that the degree of incline of the ramps with the pickup facing away from the building was 26 degrees. RP 271-72. Skelton also testified, however, that an ATV can be safely operated on a slope of 35 or 36 degrees if the operator has enough experience. RP 305. And Skelton further testified he could not say whether the accident would not have happened if the incline of the ramp was 25 degrees, or even 20 or 15 degrees, because "there are too many variables that cannot be established." RP 303-04.

C. <u>Relevant Trial Court Procedure</u>

At trial, the court gave the WPI on implied primary assumption of risk (Instruction No. 21), modified with the following additional language:

A person's implied assumption of a specific risk is not knowing if you find the person was given misleading information or a misleading assurance of safety.

CP 349.

The trial court also gave instructions on the duty owned by a premise owner to an invitee, which included the instruction that the owner of business premises "owes a duty to a business invitee to exercise ordinary care." (Instruction No. 14), CP 341, and an instruction on the definition of negligence (Instruction No. 10) CP 337.

The trial court refused to give a separate, general negligence instruction and dismissed Edwards' general negligence claim.

The jury found that CMS was negligent and that its negligence was a proximate cause of injury to Edwards. However, the jury also found that Edwards assumed the risk of injury and that, accordingly, his claim against CMS was barred. (CP 360-362.)

After Edwards' motion for new trial was denied (CP 678-687), he appealed, and on December 19, 2017, Division III of the Court of Appeals, in an unpublished opinion, reversed, holding that it was error for the trial court to have instructed the jury on implied primary assumption of risk and not to have given a separate instruction on general negligence.

VI. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

A. <u>Trial Court Properly Instructed The Jury On Implied Primary</u> <u>Assumption Of Risk</u>

1. Standard of Review

Jury instructions are appropriate if they are supported by substantial evidence, allow the parties to argue their theories of the case, and inform the jury of the applicable law when read as a whole. *State v. Marquez*, 131 Wn. App. 566, 575, 127 P.3d 786 (2006).

Whether a jury instruction reflects an accurate statement of the law is reviewed *de novo*. *Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor*, 170 Wn.2d 628, 635, 244 P.3d 924 (2010). A trial court's decision regarding how to word an instruction or whether to give a particular instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Douglas v. Freeman*, 117 Wn.2d 242, 256, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons. *In re: Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997). A trial court decision on whether evidence is substantial enough to support a jury instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Douglas*, 128 Wn. App. 555, 561, 116 P.3d 1012 (2005).

2. <u>The court's instruction on implied primary assumption</u> of risk was a correct statement of the law, and it was <u>supported by substantial evidence</u>.

Washington recognizes four categories of assumption of risk: (1) express, (2) implied primary, (3) implied reasonable, and (4) implied unreasonable. Hvolboll v. Wolff Co., 187 Wn. App. 37, 47, 347 P.3d 476 (2015). The last two types are alternative names for contributory negligence, and work to allocate a degree of fault to the plaintiff, serving as damagereducing factors. Id., citing Home v. N. Kitsap Sch. Dist., 92 Wn. App. 709, 719, 965 P.2d 1112 (1998). On the other hand, express assumption of risk and implied primary assumption of risk "arise when a plaintiff has consented to relieve the defendant of a duty-owed by the defendant to the plaintiffregarding specific known risks." Id., quoting Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor, 170 Wn.2d 628, 636, 244 P.3d 924 (2010). Express and implied primary assumption of risk have the same elements of proof: "The evidence must show the plaintiff (1) had full subjective understanding (2) of the presence and nature of the specific risk, and (3) voluntarily chose to encounter the risk." Hvolboll at 48, quoting Kirk, 109 Wn.2d at 453, 746 P.2d 285. "The

knowledge and voluntariness that established the plaintiff's consent are questions of fact for the jury, 'except when the evidence is such that reasonable minds could not differ.'" *Alston v. Blythe*, 88 Wn. App. 26, 33-34, 943 P.2d 692 (1997). See also, *Shorter v. Drury, supra*.

While the defense of implied primary assumption of risk requires more than a generalized feeling that there may be some hazard involved, the required knowledge is of a particular type of hazard, not knowledge of every variable that might affect the likelihood of harm. See, *Simpson v. May*, 5 Wn. App. 214, 218, 486 P.2d 336 (1971).

For implied primary assumption of risk to apply, it is not necessary that the plaintiff articulate his subjective appreciation or understanding of the risk. Like any subjective mental state, knowledge or understanding can be proven through circumstantial evidence. See, e.g., *State v. Allen*, 182 Wn.2d 364, 341 P.3d 268 (2015) (requirement of actual knowledge that the defendant is promoting or facilitating a crime for purposes of accomplice liability may be shown with circumstantial evidence); *Burbo v. Harley C. Douglas, Inc.*, 125 Wn. App. 684, 106 P.3d 258 (2005) (seller's actual knowledge of defects for purposes of a claim of fraudulent concealment can be shown by circumstantial evidence).

In the instant case, there was abundant evidence that John had a full subjective understanding of the presence and nature of the specific risk rollover while riding an ATV up a loading ramp—and voluntarily chose to encounter it. John received and signed a receipt when he purchased the ATV that clearly set forth the dangers associated with riding up an incline. He knew that if an ATV flipped over while ascending or descending a hill, it could be very dangerous, and could cause severe injury, including, but not limited to, death. John read the owner's manual for the ATV, which explained the risk of rollover when riding up a hill or incline, and the manual emphasized that failing to abide by the warnings in the manual could cause severe injury or death. John knew the CMS parking lot was sloped, and agreed the slope was "obvious." He understood the need to maintain a steady speed when ascending a ramp. After the ramps were set up, John heard his wife say that they did not look safe, and John agreed. To John's naked eye, the slope of the ramp "looked really steep" and he was concerned as to whether he had the skill to successfully navigate the ATV up the ramp. For that reason, John inquired about turning his truck around so it would point downhill, knowing the ramp would be less steep that way. But John, with his wife standing nearby, was nevertheless adamant he could load the ATV by himself.

The Edwards argued at trial and to the Court of Appeals that John did not appreciate the risk because he was unaware that the slope of the ramp exceeded the 25 degrees mentioned in the Polaris manual. But it was not necessary that Edwards appreciate the risk with such acuity. See, *Simpson*, *supra*, and *Jessee*, *supra*. And, as emphasized by the Edwards' expert, Mr. Skelton, the precise degree of incline was immaterial, because the ultimate cause of the accident was John's lack of skill and training and failing to maintain momentum as he ascended the ramps.

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