FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/21/2018 1:51 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95459-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COA NO. III-344495

JOHN and LORI EDWARDS, a marital community,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

COLVILLE MOTOR SPORTS, INC., a Washington Corporation,

Defendant/Petitioner,

ANSWER TO AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

STEVEN W. HUGHES
Attorney at Law
STEVEN W. HUGHES, WSBA 11620
422 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 620
Spokane WA 99201
(509) 444-5141 telephone
(509) 444-5143 facsimile
Attorney for Plaintiff/Respondents
John and Lori Edwards

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

Transcript Vol. II, p. 355, Lines 16-20. Yet, Mr. Harris admitted that Lori
Edwards asked him (Mr. Harris) to load the ATV. Transcript Vol. II, p.

355, Lines 16-20. He replied that he had very little experience. <u>Id</u>. Lori
told Mr. Harris, "Well, you know, he (John) doesn't really have any
experience." <u>Transcript Vol. II p. 363 Lines 16-23</u>. Mr. Harris replied,
"Well, I probably have less." That was untrue. <u>Id</u>.

The Polaris ATV Safety Manual provided to John Edwards by CMS upon purchase warns riders to avoid steep hills exceeding a 25-degree grade. Ex. P42, Atty Bates No. 02858. When asked if Mr. Harris could look at a hill and tell if it exceeded a 25-degree grade, he responded, "No, I could not…" Transcript Vol. II, p. 366, Lines 2-5. He testified that he did not know the degree of the slope on the CMS parking lot. Transcript Vol. III, p. 551 Lines 4-14.

There is no level spot on the parking lot and CMS has no loading dock. <u>Transcript Vol. II</u>, p. 350 <u>Lines 3-9</u>. There are no warning signs at CMS. <u>Transcript Vol. III</u>, p. 550 <u>Lines 5-7</u>. Ex. P37.

Mr. Harris testified that if he, as a CMS employee, felt uncomfortable loading an ATV on to a truck he would go inside and get another employee more experienced that he to load it. <u>Transcript Vol. II, p. 354-55</u>. He did not do the same for John Edwards or suggest it.

After Mr. Harris's refusal to load the ATV, John Edwards started driving it up the 6-foot ramp with Lori, his wife and Harris standing next to him. <u>Transcript Vol. III, p. 465 Lines 4-13.</u> She testified that John "maintained a steady throttle...and when he got to the top he stood up and gravity pulled it back on him." <u>Transcript Vol. I, p. 187, Lines 6-12.</u> She witnessed her husband's horrible injury. <u>Id.</u> John received a Life Flight to Sacred Heart Hospital in Spokane. <u>Transcript Vol. I, pp. 189-90.</u>

The Plaintiffs employed forensic engineer, William Skelton, who examined and analyzed the CMS parking lot, the ramps, and pickup truck involved in this incident. He testified that slope the slope of the ramp on the CMS parking lot was 69.5 percent, which equals 35 degrees.

Transcript Vol. II, p. 275, Lines 10-15. This exceeded the maximum incline specified by the Polaris manual by 40 percent. *Id*.

Mr. Skelton's investigation determined that if John Edwards' pickup truck had in fact been turned around to point downhill, the ramp

would have presented only a 26-degree incline. <u>Transcript Vol. II, p. 275, Lines 10-15</u>. This would be only one degree above the 25-degree maximum allowed by Polaris. Ex. P42.

Mr. Skelton testified that based on his professional opinion and his examination of the location, the loading spot provided by CMS was unreasonably dangerous for any inexperienced ATV rider like John Edwards. Transcript Vol. II, p. 284 Lines 3-17. Mr. Skelton testified, "That parking lot is definitely not safe for an inexperienced driver to load an ATV using a 6-foot ramp into the back of the pickup truck the way this one was situated." *Id.* Mr. Skelton testified that CMS should have warned Mr. Edwards regarding the dangerous situation, and further testified that CMS employees themselves who are experienced should load and unload ATVs for any inexperienced driver like John Edwards. Transcript Vol. II, p. 290-91.

As a result of his injuries, John Edwards was placed in a medically-induced coma for more than five days; suffered a punctured lung, shattered jaw, fractured eye socket, broken shoulder, and six broken ribs; and his face was crushed. See <u>Transcript Vol. III, p. 467-68</u>. He underwent ten surgical procedures to repair his shattered jaw; he lost teeth,

which are still being replaced with implants seven years later; half of his tongue is numb, with absolutely no feeling due to permanent nerve damage, causing great difficulty eating. His lip is without feeling as well, causing him to drool. His jaw was wired shut for more than two months and he had a to carry wire cutters with him at all times, in case he was to vomit from the medication he was taking, which could have caused him to choke to death. Transcript Vol. III, p. 471-72. He is a choke risk to this day and had to attend "swallow school." Transcript Vol. III, p. 473. He had to attend speech therapy to avoid spitting while he talked, but his speech is affected still. Transcript Vol. III, p. 476. He lost the ability to taste food. His medical expenses exceed \$350,000.00 and are continuing.

VI. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

1. The Court of Appeals Properly Ruled that the Trial Court Should Not Have Instructed the Jury on Implied Assumption of Risk.

A trial court's ruling on whether to give a jury instruction is reviewed *de novo* to determine whether the instruction is erroneous, and whether the error prejudiced a party. <u>Stevens v. Gordon</u>, 118 Wn.App. 43, 74 P.3d 653 (Div. 3. 2003).

Washington recognizes four categories of assumption of the risk, "(1) express, (2) implied primary, (3) implied reasonable, and (4) implied unreasonable." Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc., 124 Wn.2d 121, 143, 875 P.2d 621, 633 (1994). The first two categories – express and implied primary, continue to act as a complete bar to recovery. Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor, 170 Wn.2d 628, 636, 244 P.3d 924 (2010). Implied unreasonable and implied reasonable, on the other hand, have been subsumed into contributory negligence and merely reduce plaintiff's recoverable damages based on comparative fault. Gleason v. Cohen, 192 Wn.App. 788, 795, 368 P.3d 531 (2016) (citing Scott v. Pac. W. Mountain Resort, 119 Wn.2d 484, 397, 834 P.2d 6 (1992)).

The court in <u>Dorr v. Big Creek Wood Prods. Inc.</u>, 84 Wn.App. 420, 425-26, 927 P.2d 1148 (1996), appropriately cautioned that courts must carefully distinguish between the two types of assumptions of risk. The court explained:

Trial courts are rightfully wary of requests to instruct the jury on implied primary assumption of the risk. That doctrine, if not boxed in and carefully watched, has an expansive tendency to reintroduce the complete bar to recovery into territory now staked out by statute as the domain of comparative negligence.

The doctrine of implied primary assumption of risk is based on the notion that plaintiff impliedly agrees that the defendant owes *no duty* to the plaintiff regarding certain risks. <u>Gleason</u>, 192 Wn.App. at 795; <u>Kirk</u>, 109 Wn.2d 448, 453, 746 P.2d 285, 288 (1987).

Implied primary assumption of the risk requires proof that, "the plaintiff (1) had full subjective understanding (2) of the presence and nature of the specific risk, and (3) voluntarily chose to encounter the risk."

Kirk v. Washington State Univ., 109 Wn.2d at 453. "Put another way, the plaintiff "must have knowledge of the specific risk, appreciate and understand its nature and voluntarily choose to incur it." *Id.* The Washington Supreme Court in Scott made it clear that implied primary assumption of risk means that "the plaintiff assumes the dangers that are inherent in and necessary to" a particular activity. 119 Wn.2d at 500-01. Importantly, *implied primary assumption of risk does not apply if the defendant engages in negligent acts that increase the inherent risks of an activity.* Gleason, 192 Wn.App. at 798.

The uncontested evidence at trial showed that the following acts of CMS employees were negligent and created additional risks not inherent in loading the ATV:

1) Defendant's employee, William Harris drove Plaintiffs' ATV from the back shop to behind Plaintiff's truck and loading ramp and parked it "maybe two, three feet from the back of the ramps." <u>Transcript Vol. II, pg. 362 ln. 15-19.</u>

Defendant's expert, Bill Uhl, testified that two to three feet of room is not sufficient space to load the ATV on the truck. <u>Transcript Vol. IV, p. 725, ln. 10-18</u>.

- 2) Plaintiff Lori Edwards asked William Harris if he would load the ATV and he said "no, I'm not comfortable loading," because he did not have experience. <u>Transcript Vol. II, p. 364, In. 10-11</u>.
- 3) John Edwards asked if they should turn their truck around, thinking a downward facing truck would reduce the angle of the ramp. Transcript Vol. III, p. 463, ln. 20-24.

Defendant's employee, William Harris, responded by saying "No, nah, we, we do this all the time." <u>Transcript Vol. III, p. 464 ln 1-2</u>. Mr. Harris continued "I don't think it [turning the truck around] makes much difference." <u>Transcript Vol. II, p. 362, ln. 8-14</u>.

But in fact, turning the truck around would have made a 40 percent difference in the angle of the ramp. <u>Transcript Vol. II, p. 275, ln. 10-15.</u>

4) William Harris testified at trial that when loading an ATV at the spot where the Plaintiff's truck was parked on the day of the incident, required leaning one's body out over the handlebars to prevent flipping over. That procedure is not referenced in the ATV handbook, nor did Mr. Harris inform John Edwards of that safety requirement.

The Court of Appeals in the present case, specifically identified the negligence of the CMS employee which created additional risks which could not be impliedly assumed by John Edwards. The Court of Appeals declared beginning on p. 16, the following:

"These facts do not support the notion that Mr. Edwards was fully informed of the relevant risks and consented to relieve CMS of its duty to provide a reasonably safe premises. Rather, Mr. Harris's assurances caused Mr. Edwards to believe the risk he was about to take was minimal or nonexistent. In addition, there was no evidence that Mr. Edwards was informed of the risk posed because of the ATV's close proximity to the ramps and the need for rapid acceleration of the ATV up the ramps."

The Court of Appeals noted that CMS argued that Mr. Edwards had a "full understanding of the risk" based upon his ability to see the parking lot slope and having read the owner's manual which described risk associated with "hill climbing". However, neither the CMS employee, William Harris nor the owner of CMS had knowledge of the degree of

slope of the CMS parking lot, or that it exceeded the owner's manual for loading by 40%. The Court of Appeals, beginning on p. 17, declared the following:

"We agree that Mr. Edwards understood that there was some risk involved in loading his ATV into his truck, given the steep slope of the ramps. But we disagree that the risk here was sufficiently obvious that Mr. Edwards should be found to have consented to the risk so as to relieve CMS of its duty. If the risk was so obvious, it should have been obvious to Mr. Harris. But it was not. Rather than telling Mr. Edwards that the steep angle of the ramps created a risk that the ATV would flip while being loaded, Mr. Harris allayed Mr. Edwards' concerns. Mr. Harris assured Mr. Edwards that ATVs were loaded into trucks there all the time and that turning the truck around would not make much difference. In an extreme case, the risk an ATV will flip is obvious. This is not an extreme case. For this reason, the trial court erred in instructing the jury on implied primary assumption of risk.

2. The Court of Appeals Properly Ruled that the Trial Court Erred by Granting Defendant's Motion for a Directed Verdict Dismissing Plaintiffs' General Negligence Claim.

The standard of review of the granting of a judgment as a matter of law is de novo. Weber Const., Inc. v. County of Spokane, 124 Wn.App. 29, 98 P.3d 60 (Div. III 2004); see also, Mega v. Whitworth College, 136 Wn.App. 661, 668, 158 P.3d 1211 (2007). A directed verdict will be overturned on review when the trial court, in directing the verdict, errs in interpreting the substantive law. Gibson v. City of Tacoma, 60 Wn.App. 26, 803 P.2d 1 (Div. II 1990). The trial court in the present case

misconstrued the law by deciding that the Defendant could have no duties to the Edwards, other than that of an owner or occupier of land, and that premises liability excluded duties not to misinform or to deceive, which would support claims of general negligence.

A motion for judgment as a matter of law admits the truth of the opponent's evidence and all inferences that can be drawn from it. <u>Mega v. Whitworth College</u>, 136 Wn.App. 661, 668, 158 P.3d 1211 (2007).

Granting a motion for judgment as a matter of law is appropriate when, viewing the evidence most favorable to the non-moving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party. (Emphasis Added).

<u>Id</u>. If any admissible evidence exists on which reasonable minds might reach conclusions consistent with the claim, the issue is for the jury. <u>Id</u>.

At the end of the Plaintiffs' case in chief, Defendant CMS filed a Motion for Judgment as a matter of law on the Plaintiffs' claim of general negligence. The Defendant argued to the Court on page 74 the following:

The WPI, I can't point to it on the tip of my fingers, but that's what it says is that you have to prove that the injury or event was caused by the negligent act. And, so, what we have here is the negligent act allegedly being the defective parking lot...

Following argument, Judge Nielsen stated on page 755, the following:

Well, you know, I guess I could say I think it's clear that Mr. Harris, if he just was not an employee and he was standing there and, and he saw what was about to happen, would he have any obligation, duty to do anything, and he would not. He could just stand there and watch and, and...

Based on that faulty reasoning, Judge Nielsen granted the Defendant's motion to dismiss the Plaintiffs' general negligence claim as a matter of law.

However, there are additional duties owed to an invitee by an owner/occupier beyond those delineated as premises liability. The court in Dorr discusses one additional duty. In that case, both the plaintiff and defendant were experienced loggers. The plaintiff arrived at the defendant's logging location and he "stopped at the stump of a tree that had just fallen." Id. at 423. The plaintiff looked around for widow-makers and saw none. Id. The plaintiff then "walked on the log only after [defendant] gave him a hand signal indicating that it was safe." Id. at 429. Acting upon the defendant's hand signal, plaintiff proceeded and was struck by a widow-maker, causing severe injuries. Id.

The court in <u>Dorr</u> also noted that the plaintiff did not base his entire claim under a premises liability theory. <u>Id</u>. at 429. The plaintiff claimed in part that the defendant negligently directed him into the hazards. <u>Id</u>. "The specific duty at issue in that claim was a duty to avoid giving misleading instructions". <u>Id</u>.

Premises liability arises out of a condition on land of an owner/occupier. A general negligence claim arises out of conduct of the owner/occupier. A dangerous condition on a premises would give rise to a duty to warn invitees such as the Edwards. Giving false assurances of the safety of an activity or deceiving an invitee resulting in injury on the premises would constitute negligence.

The Edwards' negligence claim was separate and apart from the premises liability theory and focused on the negligent conduct of CMS, not just the dangerous condition of the land. A party is entitled to have the court instruct the jury on his theory of the case when there is substantial evidence to support it. Woods v. Goodson, 55 Wn.2d 687, 349 P.2d 731 (1960). Over Plaintiffs' objection, the Court directed verdict in favor of the Defendant CMS and refused to allow Plaintiffs to argue that the

Defendant was negligent, despite the substantial evidence introduced. This was reversible error.

VII. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly reversed the jury verdict in this case and remanded for a new trial. It was error to instruct on the implied primary assumption of risk in light of the conduct of the Defendant, CMS, which were separate and apart from the inherent risk of loading an ATV and which could not be impliedly assumed by the Plaintiffs. It is additionally an error to summarily dismiss the Edwards' general negligence claim in light of the substantial evidence that the conduct of the Defendant fell below the standard of care for the protection of the Plaintiffs and was negligent. There was no basis for the trial court to find that premises liability subsumes and excludes any and all claims of general negligence by an owner/occupier.

This court is respectfully requested to deny review herein.